No. 73391-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION I

THE REPUBLIC OF KAZAKHSTAN,

Respondent/Plaintiff

v.

DOES 1-100 inclusive,

Defendants

v.

LLC MEDIA-CONSULT,

Appellant/Third Party.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT LLC MEDIA-CONSULT

Andrew J. Kinstler, WSBA No. 12703 HELSELL FETTERMAN LLP 1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 4200 Seattle, Washington 98154 (206) 292-1144 akinstler@helsell.com Attorneys for Appellant LLC Media-Consult

I. INTRODUCTION

Respondent The Republic of Kazakhstan is widely considered to be one of the world's most repressive countries. It was the last of the Soviet republics to declare independence after the Soviet Union's breakup in 1991. At that time, Kazakhstan's Communist-era leader, Nursultan Nazarbayev, became the country's first president. A quarter-century later, he remains in power. He has been systematically cracking down on his critics, especially those in the press who dare to expose corruption in his government.

Appellant *LLC Media-Consult* (or "OOO Medua-Koncanm" in Russian and hereinafter "LMC") is a Russian limited liability company that operates the online version of Respublika, a Russian-language newspaper based in Kazakhstan. Respublika has worked hard to shine a light on public corruption, financial scandals, and human rights violations in Kazakhstan. In response, Respublika's editors and personnel have endured a sustained campaign of violence and death threats to oppress and intimidate them. Some hide their involvement with the newspaper to protect themselves and their families. After years of government crack-downs, other Kazakh opposition newspapers have stopped publishing, and Respublika is now one of only a few remaining in-country sources of such news and information.

Earlier this year, Respublika published an article about a Kazakh politician; the article was critical of the government and contained copies

of email exchanges with government officials that were allegedly attorneyclient privileged. These emails had also been posted anonymously on a website unrelated to Respublika. Kazakhstan filed a federal lawsuit in the Southern District of New York against 100 "Doe" defendants who allegedly stole and published those emails. Kazakhstan also filed a lawsuit in California state court against the same 100 "Doe" defendants for the same alleged activities. No actual defendants were named in either case. Kazakhstan also initiated a limited action in King County Superior Court to serve a subpoena duces tecum from the California case on eNom, Inc. That company is an Internet domain registrar in Kirkland, Washington that has worked with Respublika for years to keep its main domain registered. The subpoena duces tecum seeks, among other things, the identities and locations of Respublika individuals and the location of the newspaper's hosting server—the online "printing press." Kazakhstan freely admits that the purpose of that subpoena is to determine who turned over those emails to Respublika.

LMC moved to quash Kazakhstan's subpoena duces tecum. In oral argument on that motion, Kazakhstan revealed that it has served a number of subpoenas duces tecum on other non-news partners of Respublika in America without notice to the newspaper. King County Superior Court Judge Mariane C. Spearman heard oral argument on the motion and entered

an Order Denying Third Party LLC Media-Consult's Motion to Quash ("Order"). The Order affirmatively directed eNom, Inc. to comply with all parts of the subpoena duces tecum that Kazakhstan did not withdraw at oral argument.

The Washington court system is not a tool of oppression. Nor can our courts be misused by the powerful, especially a repressive foreign nation, to chill free speech and stamp out political dissent. This Court should reverse the trial court's Order for four reasons. First, as a threshold matter, Kazakhstan is engaging in improper claim-spitting by suing these same "Doe" defendants in state and federal court, so this Court need not waste judicial resources adjudicating Kazakhstan's discovery request. Second, Kazakhstan's subpoena duces tecum is designed to identify a confidential news source in violation of Washington's Shield Law, RCW 5.68.010 (Appendix A). Third, given Kazakhstan's campaign of violence against Respublika, this type of discovery is fundamentally abusive under our system of justice and should not be tolerated by this Court. Finally, article I, sections 1 and 5 of the Washington Constitution do not permit Washington courts to enforce Kazakhstan's abusive discovery targeting the press.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred when it denied LMC's motion to quash Kazakhstan's subpoena duces tecum in its April 30, 2015, order.
- 2. The trial court erred by ordering third party company eNom, Inc. to comply with Kazakhstan's subpoena duces tecum in its April 30, 2015, order.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

- 1. Should this Court adjudicate Kazakhstan's discovery request, when Kazakhstan is engaging in improper claim-splitting by litigating this same set of facts in a lawsuit filed in federal court against the same "Doe" defendants? (Assignments of Error 1 2.)
- 2. Whether Washington's Shield Law, RCW 5.68.010, bars the trial court from forcing a Washington domain registrar working with a foreign newspaper to comply with Kazakhstan's subpoena duces tecum, where Kazakhstan seeks to identify a confidential news source, names and contact information about the newspaper's journalists, and the physical location of the newspaper's online server? (Assignments of Error 1 2.)
- 3. Whether the Washington rules of discovery bar Kazakhstan's subpoena duces tecum for a newspaper's information to further oppress journalists and chill political dissent, where (1) there has been a documented campaign of violence to intimidate the newspaper; and

- (2) Kazakhstan's counsel says his client believes it already has the information it seeks under the subpoena? (Assignments of Error 1 2.)
- 4. Whether article I, sections 1 and 5 of the Washington Constitution permit Washington courts to enforce Kazakhstan's abusive discovery designed to further oppress journalists and chill political dissent? (Assignments of Error 1 2.)

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Since the days of the Soviet Union, one strongman has ruled Kazakhstan, and he deals harshly with his critics.

Kazakhstan is widely considered to be one of the world's most repressive countries. Clerk's Papers (CP) at 117. After the Soviet Union's breakup in 1991, Kazakhstan was the last of the Soviet republics to declare independence. CP at 79 ¶ 7. At that time, Kazakhstan's Communist-era leader, Nursultan Nazarbayev, became the country's first president. *Id.* A quarter-century later, he remains in power. CP at 395. In late April 2015, Mr. Nazarbayev was "re-elected" for yet another five-year term with 97.7 percent of the vote, running against two token opponents. *Id.* He was also recently elevated to the role of "Leader of the Nation," which, among other things, makes him immune from prosecution forever. CP at 79 ¶ 7. It is now a criminal offense to insult him, punishable by years of imprisonment. *Id.*

Beyond the serious irregularities in Kazakhstan's "electoral" process and its unique dictator-shield laws, in the last few years Mr. Nazarbayev's government has also systematically restricted freedom of expression. CP at 113, 116. The government has brazenly cracked down on political critics, especially those in the press who dare to expose corruption. CP at 113-14. Journalists are attacked; newspapers are forced out of business. CP at 80-85 (¶¶ 10-13, 18, 20-22, 24-28, 32); CP at 94, 98-100, 102, 106-07, 113-14, 137. After years of these crack-downs, Respublika is now one of only a few remaining in-country sources of news and information about nepotism, cronyism, and other financial scandals in Kazakhstan's government. CP at 85 ¶ 30; CP at 81-85, 113, 137.

B. Respublika is a widely-acclaimed newspaper in Kazakhstan that exposes public corruption, financial scandals, and human rights violations.

Respublika is a Russian-language newspaper based in Kazakhstan. CP at 77 \P 3. The newspaper is published weekly and it principally covers news in the business and political establishment of Kazakhstan. CP at 77 \P 3. Its articles are made available on its websites, including its main website www.respublika-kaz.info. *Id*.

Irina A. Petrushova is the founder and editor-in-chief of Respublika, which she founded in 2000. *Id.* She and her brother (Alexander Petrushov) own LMC, which is a Russian limited liability company that operates the

online publication of Respublika. CP at 78 ¶ 4. LMC holds the Russian mass media license for the online version of the newspaper. *Id.* Over the years, Respublika has reported on public corruption, financial scandals, and human rights violations in Kazakhstan and around the world. CP at 78-81, 87, 89 (¶¶ 5, 9, 17, 41, 51-52). In particular, Respublika's investigative journalists have reported on nepotism, cronyism, and other financial scandals in Kazakhstan's government. CP at 79, 81 (¶¶ 9, 17).

Within two years of launching the newspaper, Respublika became a target of an aggressive intimidation campaign. CP at 79-80, 84 (¶¶ 9-11, 28). One of Respublika's printers quit after finding a human skull on his doorstep. CP at 80 ¶ 10. A funeral wreath was anonymously sent to Ms. Petrushova marking her for death. *Id.* A dog's headless body was hung from the newspaper's window-grates. CP at 80 ¶ 11. A screwdriver plunged into the decapitated dog pinned a message: "There will be no next time." *Id.* The next day, that dog's severed head appeared outside Ms. Petrushova's apartment door with a note: "There will be no last time." *Id.* The office of Respublika's editorial board was set on fire with bottles of gasoline thrown into the windows. *Id.* A few days later, the newsroom was firebombed, burning the building to the ground. *Id.* The staff relocated the office and continued publishing. *Id.* On many occasions, government

agents tried to silence Respublika journalists by threatening physical violence against their families and children. CP at 84 ¶ 28.

When the government successfully pressured printing houses to stop publishing Respublika, the newspaper was forced to self-publish on home printers. CP at 82-83 ¶ 22. Ultimately, Ms. Petrushova was forced to flee the country, and she has continued to help run Respublika from afar. CP at 77, 80-82 (¶¶ 3, 13, 17, 19).

In 2014, a server hosting one of the Respublika websites was seized in Russia, apparently at the behest of Kazakhstan's government. CP at 82, 84-85 (¶¶ 19, 29). The government has permanently blocked Respublika's main website, www.respublika-kaz.info. CP at 85-86 (¶¶ 31, 33).

C. For its online news publication, Respublika has used eNom, Inc. and its "ID Protect" privacy service to shield information about Respublika's domain registrant.

When someone registers an Internet domain name, he or she must post information, including a name, physical address, telephone number, and an email address, to a global Internet database called "WHOIS." CP at 34-35 (¶¶ 4, 9). If that person wishes to keep private his or her information (and other people involved in the website's maintenance, billing, and technical operations) from anyone running a simple web search on the WHOIS database, he or she can use a domain privacy service offered by

domain registrars, which replaces that information with the information of a forwarding service. CP at $34 \, \P \, 4$.

Washington is the home of at least one company that protects privacy on the Internet. CP at 1, 6, 12; CP at 34 ¶ 4; CP at 86 ¶ 35. eNom, Inc. is a domain registration company in Kirkland, Washington, that has kept Respublika's main domain, www.respublika-kaz.info, registered for years. CP at 86, 88 (¶¶ 35, 45). Respublika used eNom's privacy service called "ID Protect" to shield personal, identifying information about Respublika's registrant from disclosure. CP at 4, 10, 16; CP at 34 ¶ 4; CP at 88-89 (¶¶ 45-50). Respublika's registrant is a person, not a corporation. CP at 88 ¶ 46.

D. Kazakhstan filed suit in California exclusively against "Doe" defendants and issued an out-of-state subpoena in Washington to eNom, Inc. about Respublika.

Earlier this year, Respublika published an article about a Kazakh politician; the article was critical of the government and contained copies of email exchanges with government officials that were allegedly attorney-client privileged.¹ Report of Proceedings (RP) at 6:25 – 7:15, 12:24 – 13:5.

Appendix B (federal complaint).

¹ In addition to filing suit in California state court against 100 "Doe" defendants for allegedly stealing and disseminating Kazakhstan's government emails, CP at 50-57, Kazakhstan has also filed a federal lawsuit in the Southern District of New York against 100 "Doe" defendants for allegedly stealing and disseminating government emails, on or about January 21, 2015, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1030. *Compare* CP at 50-57, 202, *with* CP at 192-93, 196, *and* Appendix B (federal complaint). That case is captioned *The Republic of Kazakhstan v. Does 1-100 Inclusive*, Case No. 1:15-cv-01900-ER. CP at 192;

Those emails had also been posted on the website https://kazaword.wordpress.com, which neither LMC nor Respublika own or operate. RP at 7:1-15, 12:24 – 13:5; CP at 86 \P 36; CP at 203 \P 4.

On February 20, 2015, Kazakhstan filed a lawsuit in the Superior Court of Santa Clara County, California. CP at 50-57. In just five conclusory factual paragraphs, Kazakhstan alleges that there was a theft of emails from its government computers in violation of California and U.S. federal law involving 100 "Doe" defendants. CP at 51-52 (¶¶ 6-10). The alleged theft occurred on or about January 21, 2015. CP at 202 ¶ 4. That lawsuit is unopposed, in the sense that Kazakhstan did not name any actual defendants. CP at 50-51 ¶ 3. The complaint specifically alleges that one or more "Doe" defendants posted the subject emails on the website

At Kazakhstan's request, U.S. District Judge Edgardo Ramos issued an order that enjoins several broad, undefined classes of individuals with any connection to the unknown "Doe" defendants from "using, disclosing, disseminating, posting, displaying, sharing, distributing, hosting, copying, viewing, accessing, providing access to or making available to anyone, in any matter whatsoever" the emails allegedly taken from the Kazakh government and published. CP at 192-93, 200-01.

It is unclear exactly whom that order enjoins from republishing (or even viewing or accessing) those emails. See CP at 200. If that order were to apply to LMC or Respublika, then it would likely constitute an unconstitutional prior restraint under the First Amendment and article I, section 5 of the Washington Constitution. See New York Times Co. v. United States, 403 U.S. 713, 714, 91 S. Ct. 2140, 29 L Ed. 2d 822 (1973); State v. Coe, 101 Wn.2d 364, 374-75, 679 P.2d 353 (1984). Nevertheless, out of an abundance of caution, no copies of the newspaper article containing those emails are included in the record of this appeal. To be clear, Kazakhstan is the reason why this Court is not permitted even to view the newspaper article at issue. See CP at 192-93. At oral argument below, both counsel discussed the fact that Respublika published an article containing copies of government emails, RP at 6:25 – 7:15, 12:24 – 13:5, but this Court can also take judicial notice of that fact. RCW 5.68.010(4).

https://kazaword.wordpress.com, RP at 12:24 - 13:1, CP at 51-52 (¶¶ 3, 7), which, again, neither LMC nor Respublika own or operate. CP at 86 ¶ 36.

On March 4, 2015, Kazakhstan initiated this action in King County Superior Court in order to serve an out-of-state subpoena duces tecum on eNom, Inc., effectively requesting all information known to eNom about Respublika and its journalists. CP at 1, 5-6, 12; CP at 86 ¶ 35. The text of the subpoena duces tecum is quoted below. CP at 3-4, 10, 16. Though Kazakhstan's counsel withdrew certain parts of the subpoena (indicated with the strike-through font), CP at 412, the records requested (and ultimately ordered to be produced) are extensive:

- 1. Documents sufficient to show all details of all current and former registrants, including any underlying registrants using a privacy or proxy service, of the Domain Name including, but not limited to, his or her email address, physical address, phone number, and billing information, including any updated or revised details since registration.
- 2. Documents sufficient to show the dates, times and corresponding IP Addresses and/or Mac [sic] Addresses from which the Domain Name was registered, created or modified.
- 3. All personally identifying information Related to any Person who purchased, used, or implemented Your "ID Protect" program in connection with the registration, purchase, or use of the Domain Name.
- 4. All personally identifying information Related to any Person who purchased, used or implemented the Whois Privacy Protection Service in connection with the registration, purchase, or use of the Domain Name.

5. Documents sufficient to show all contact information for Whois Privacy Protection Service and all employees of Whois Privacy Protection Service including, but not limited to, Your contact person at Whois Privacy Protection Service.

Compare CP at 3-4, 10, 16 (Subpoena Text), with CP at 411-12 (Trial Court Order).

The subpoena defines the term "Domain Name" as Respublika's main website, www.respublika-kaz.info. CP at 3, 9, 15; CP at 85 ¶ 31. (That is *not* the website that Kazakhstan named in its complaint. CP at 52 ¶ 7.) The records requested are for documents showing all details regarding individuals connected to Respublika's website, including, but not limited to, their names, addresses, telephone numbers, email addresses, Internet Protocol (IP) addresses, and Media Access Control (MAC) addresses. CP at 3-4, 10, 16. Once an IP address is determined, it can be used to discover either a server's specific geographical location or its hosting provider, which also has a specific geographical location. CP at 34 ¶ 5. Kazakhstan also specifically sought information on Respublika's journalists that eNom's "ID Protect" service kept confidential. CP at 4, 10, 16 (requesting "[a]ll personally identifying information Related to any Person who purchased, used, or implemented Your "ID Protect" program in connection with the registration, purchase, or use of the Domain Name").

E. Kazakhstan filed a virtually-identical lawsuit in federal court in the Southern District of New York.

In addition to filing suit in California, CP at 50-57, Kazakhstan has also filed a federal lawsuit in the Southern District of New York, also against 100 "Doe" defendants for allegedly stealing and disseminating Kazakh government emails on or about January 21, 2015, and also in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1030. *Compare* CP at 50-57, 202, *with* CP at 192-93, 196, *and* Appendix B ¶¶ 3-4, 8-16 (federal complaint). That federal case is captioned *The Republic of Kazakhstan v. Does 1-100 Inclusive*, Case No. 1:15-cv-01900-ER. CP at 192; Appendix B (federal complaint).

Kazakhstan did not file a copy of its federal complaint in these proceedings, but it is appended to this brief as Appendix B.² When Kazakhstan filed its opposition to the motion to quash, Kazakhstan revealed the existence of that federal suit by filing in this action a federal order that enjoins several broad, undefined classes of individuals with any connection to the unknown "Doe" defendants from "using, disclosing, disseminating, posting, displaying, sharing, distributing, hosting, copying, viewing, accessing, providing access to or making available to anyone, in any matter

² The copy of the federal complaint appended to this brief was downloaded from PACER. The complaint can also be obtained, among other places, for free at the website http://www.plainsite.org/dockets/2knl0efaf/new-york-southern-district-court/the-republic-of-kazakhstan-v-does-1100/. Neither LMC nor Respublika are defendants in the federal case. LMC has ordered a certified copy of that federal complaint and can formally supplement the appellate record at the Court's request.

whatsoever" the emails allegedly taken from the Kazakh government and disseminated and published. CP at 188, 192-93, 200-01.

F. Without notice to Respublika, Kazakhstan issued a number of subpoenas duces tecum to try to identify the confidential source of Respublika's newspaper article.

LMC's motion to quash was heard by the trial court on April 30, 2015. RP at 1. At that hearing, Kazakhstan's counsel Robert Phillips told the trial court that his client already has a list of IP addresses that accessed government servers at the time of the alleged hacking, and he wants the IP addresses for Respublika that eNom, Inc. has on file to determine if they match (and thus were involved in the alleged hacking). RP at 15:7 – 16:12, 17:3-5.

He also stated that this subpoena is one of several that Kazakhstan has issued to third parties in an effort to identify the alleged hackers who turned over the government emails to Respublika:

The complaint in California -- the purpose of the complaint in California is very clear, very simple. We're trying to identify the people responsible for this breach.

. . . .

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