No. 73391-5-I

DIVISION I, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE REPUBLIC OF KAZAKHSTAN,

Plaintiff/Respondent

v.

DOES 1-100, inclusive,

Defendants

v.

LLC MEDIA-CONSULT,

Third-Party/Appellant

ON APPEAL FROM KING COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. Mariane C. Spearman)

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Ryan P. McBride, WSBA 33280 Abraham K. Lorber, WSBA 40668 LANE POWELL PC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200 Seattle, WA 98111-9402

Tel: 206.223.7000 Fax: 206.223.7107 Robert N. Phillips, CASBN 120970,

Pro Hac Vice

David J. de Jesus, CASBN 260716,

Pro Hac Vice

REED SMITH LLP

101 Second Street, Suite 1800 San Francisco, CA 94105

Tel: 415.543.8700 Fax: 415.391.8269

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard Of Review

"An appellate court reviews a trial court's discovery order for an abuse of discretion." *T.S. v. Boy Scouts of Am.*, 157 Wn.2d 416, 423, 138 P.3d 1053 (2006). "An appellate court will find an abuse of discretion only 'on a clear showing' that the court's exercise of discretion was 'manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons." *Id.* (citation omitted). "A trial court's discretionary decision is based on untenable grounds or made for untenable reasons if it rests on facts unsupported in the record or was reached by applying the wrong legal standard." *Id.* at 423-24 (internal quotations and citation omitted). "A court's exercise of discretion is manifestly unreasonable if the court, despite applying the correct legal standard to the supported facts, adopts a view that no reasonable person would take." *Id.* at 424

(internal quotations omitted; citing *State v. Lewis*, 115 Wn.2d 294, 298–99, 797 P.2d 1141 (1990)).

There was no abuse of discretion. The trial court's discovery order correctly found that Kazakhstan's subpoena did not seek information that directly or indirectly identified journalists' confidential sources and, in any event, narrowed the scope of discovery and restricted dissemination of the information produced to "attorneys' eyes only." Its decision was firmly tethered to the law and the record and should be affirmed.

B. LMC's "Claim-Splitting" Argument Was Not Raised Below And Is Wrong In Any Event

LMC first contends that reversal of the trial court's discovery order is required because the doctrine of res judicata prevents Kazakhstan from splitting its claim between the New York and California actions. (Op. Brf. 22-23) This argument need not detain this Court.

The merits of affirmative defenses like res judicata and claim-splitting in the New York and California actions lay well beyond the purview of this limited discovery proceeding.⁶ This matter arose in Washington's courts when Kazakhstan availed itself of Washington's Uniform Interstate Depositions and Discovery Act. (CP 12-16) The Act creates a streamlined procedure by which a litigant in an out-of-state

⁶ Of course, Kazakhstan does not concede that these defenses would succeed in the New York or California actions.

action can invoke the jurisdiction of Washington courts, obtain an enforceable discovery subpoena in aid of that out-of-state action, and then serve it on a Washington resident. *See* RCW 5.51.020; *see also* Laws of 2012, ch. 95, H.B. 2195, Final Bill Report, eff. June 7, 2012) (adopting Uniform Depositions and Discovery Act to "create[] a uniform mechanism by which litigants may present the clerk of a court located in the state in which discovery is sought with a subpoena issued by a court in the trial state"). The party seeking the subpoena need not initiate a civil action or assert any causes of action; it simply applies to the clerk of the court for issuance of the subpoena. RCW 5.51.020. The statutes provide only for a procedure to challenge the subpoena through a motion for a protective order. RCW 5.51.050.

Under this statutory scheme, the only issue is whether the subpoena to eNom passed muster under Washington's discovery rules. Kazakhstan never placed the merits of its claims at issue and courts are nowhere empowered to issue any ruling on the merits. Whether Kazakhstan's claims are subject to defenses of claim splitting or res judicata is for the New York or California courts to decide. LMC's argument fails for this reason alone.

In any event, res judicata and claim splitting do not result in the dismissal of Kazakhstan's claims in New York or California, much less

the limited discovery proceeding here in Washington. For one thing, LMC fails to explain how Washington's law on this issue could somehow control dismissal of actions in New York or California that were brought under federal and California state statutes. But even if Washington law applied, LMC's argument fails.

"Claim-splitting"—that is to say, "[f]iling two separate lawsuits based on the same event"—is another way of describing the doctrine of res judicata. *Ensley v. Pitcher*, 152 Wn. App. 891, 898, 222 P.3d 99 (2009). "[R]es judicata prohibits the relitigation of claims or issues that were litigated, or could have been litigated, in a prior action." *Karlberg. v. Otten*, 167 Wn. App. 522, 535, 280 P.3d 1123 (2012). Under this rule, "if an action is brought for part of a claim, a judgment obtained in the action precludes the plaintiff from bringing a second action for the residue of the claim." *Landry v. Luscher*, 95 Wn. App. 779, 782, 976 P.2d 1274 (1999). The doctrine is intended to "curtail multiplicity of actions by parties, participants or privies who have had an opportunity to litigate the same matter in a former action in a court of competent jurisdiction." *Karlberg*, 167 Wn. App. at 536.

"The threshold requirement of res judicata is a final judgment on the merits in the prior suit." *Hisle v. Todd Pacific Shipyards Corp.*, 151 Wn.2d 853, 865, 93 P.3d 108 (2004); *see also Karlberg*, 167 Wn. App. at

536 (res judicata "requires a final judgment on the merits."); *Ensley*, 152 Wn. App. at 899 ("The threshold requirement of res judicata is a valid and final judgment on the merits in a prior suit."). For that final judgment to have res judicata effect, moreover, the doctrine "requires sameness of subject matter, cause of action, people and parties, and 'the quality of the persons for or against whom the claim is made." *Hisle*, 151 Wn.2d at 866-67.

The threshold requirement of a final judgment has not been satisfied. Neither the California nor New York actions have resulted in any adjudication on the merits, much less a final judgment, that would have preclusive effect under res judicata or otherwise prevent "claim-splitting." At most, moreover, any final judgment would affect only the New York and California actions and only the parties or their privies named in those respective actions. LMC has not been named as a party in either the New York or California actions (nor has Respublika, for that matter). Viewed from any angle, LMC's claim-splitting argument lacks merit and is no reason to reverse the trial court's limited discovery order.

C. LMC Did Not And Cannot Show That Washington's Shield Law Applies

1. LMC Has The Prima Facie Burden Of Establishing The Shield Law Applies

Though caselaw has yet to discuss the burdens of proof under the Shield Law, cases in similar contexts consistently hold that the party asserting any privilege has the prima facie burden of showing it applies. See, e.g., Fellows v. Moynihan, 175 Wn.2d 641, 649, 285 P.3d 864 (2012) ("The burden of establishing entitlement to nondisclosure rests with the party resisting discovery."); Soter v. Cowles Publ'g Co., 162 Wn.2d 716, 745, 174 P.3d 60 (2007) (party asserting attorney-client privilege has the burden of showing attorney-client relationship materials contain privileged communications); Guillen v. Pierce Cty., 144 Wn.2d 696, 716, 31 P.3d 628 (2001) ("The burden of showing that a privilege applies in any given situation rests entirely upon the entity asserting the privilege.") (reversed in part on other grounds in Pierce County, Wash. v. Guillen, 535 U.S. 1033 (2002)).

This holds true in the First Amendment context. *See Eugster v. City of Spokane*, 121 Wn.App. 799, 807, 91 P.3d 117 (2004) (party associating First Amendment associational privilege has the prima facie burden of showing "some probability that the requested disclosure will harm its First Amendment rights"). As with other privileges, "the party

asserting the privilege must make an initial showing that disclosure of the materials requested would in fact impinge on First Amendment rights...."

Snedigar v. Hoddersen, 53 Wn. App. 476, 483, 768 P.2d 1 (1989) (addressing First Amendment associational privilege) (affirmed in part and reversed in part on other grounds, 114 Wn.2d 153, 170, 786 P.2d 781 (1990)); see also Bruno & Stillman, Inc. v. Globe Newspaper Co., 633 F.2d 583, 597 (1st Cir. 1980) (media defendant "has the burden of establishing need for preserving confidentiality" of journalist sources); In re Madden, 151 F.3d 125, 131 (3d Cir. 1998) ("individuals claiming the protections of the journalist's privilege must demonstrate the concurrence of three elements").

"Once this preliminary showing of privilege is made, the burden then shifts to the party seeking discovery to establish the relevancy and materiality of the information sought, and to make a showing that reasonable efforts to obtain the information by other means have been unsuccessful" *Snedigar*, 53 Wn. App. at 483.

As we explain next, LMC has failed to meet their prima facie burden of showing that the Shield Law applies.

2. RCW 5.68.010(1) Does Not Apply Because The Subpoena Is Not Directed At A Media Entity

Washington's Shield Law divides into two main parts: (1) discovery against media entities, and (2) discovery against nonmedia entities who have business relationships with media entities. *See* RCW 5.68.010(1) & (3).

As to media entities, "no judicial, legislative, administrative, or other body with the power to issue a subpoena or other compulsory process may compel the news media to testify, produce, or otherwise disclose ... [t]he identity of a source of any news or information or any information that would tend to identify the source . . . or [a]ny news or information obtained or prepared by the news media in its capacity in gathering, receiving, or processing news or information for potential communication to the public." RCW 5.68.010.

As to nonmedia entities, the statute prohibits "any subpoena issued to, or other compulsory process against, a nonnews media party where such subpoena or process seeks records, information, or other communications relating to business transactions between such nonnews media party and the news media for the purpose of discovering the identity of a source or obtaining news or information." RCW 5.68.010(3).

As a threshold matter, LMC appears to suggest that the subpoena should be quashed under RCW 5.68.010(1)—the provision governing media entities—because LMC and Respublika are news media entities. (Op. Brf. 26-27). That is incorrect. Kazakhstan's subpoena was not directed at news media. It was directed at the domain name registrant, eNom, which is not a media entity. (CP 12) The subpoena asked eNom—not LMC or Respublika—to produce information relating to the domain name registrant's identity. (CP 12-14) Consequently, Kazakhstan's subpoena invokes the part of the statute addressing discovery against a nonmedia entity—RCW 5.68.010(3). Any discussion of the Shield Law starts there, rather than RCW 5.68.010(1).

- 3. RCW 5.68.010(3) Does Not Apply Because Kazakhstan's Subpoena Does Not Directly Or Indirectly Seek Identification Of A Confidential Source
 - a. LMC Did Not And Cannot Meet Its Prima Facie Burden Of Showing The Statute Applies

Subsection (3) of RCW 5.68.010 reads in pertinent part:

The protection from compelled disclosure contained in subsection (1) of this section also applies to any subpoena issued to, or other compulsory process against, a nonnews media party where such subpoena or process seeks records, information, or other communications relating to business transactions between such nonnews media party and the news media for the purpose of discovering the identity of a source or obtaining news or information described in subsection (1) of this section.

Subsection (1), in turn, prohibits the compelled disclosure of "the identity of a source or any information that would tend to identify the source where such source has a reasonable expectation of confidentiality...." RCW 5.68.010(1)(a).

Effective in 2007, the Shield Law codified what was then a common law "qualified privilege for reporters against compelled disclosure of confidential source information in both civil and criminal cases...." Laws of 2007, ch. 196, H.B. 1366, Final Bill Report, eff. July 22, 2007. Under the Shield Law, journalists enjoy an absolute "privilege from being compelled to testify, produce, or disclose the identity of a source of news or information, or any information that would tend to identify the source, if the source has a reasonable expectation of confidentiality." *Id.* Journalists enjoy a qualified privilege for "any news or information obtained or prepared in the course of gathering, receiving, or processing news or information for potential communication to the public." *Id.*

Apart from protecting journalists against compelled disclosure, the Shield Law also was intended to protect a "nonnews media party ... from compelled disclosure of records or information relating to business transactions with the news media where the purpose of seeking the records

is to discover the identity of a source or other information protected from disclosure." *Id.*

No cases discuss the Shield Law in a manner that illuminates these provisions.⁷ In particular, neither the statute nor its legislative history defines a "source" or "confidential source." Other authorities, however, are instructive.

In journalist parlance, the word "source" is a "term of art[.]" *In re Indiana Newspapers Inc.*, 963 N.E.2d 534 (Ind. App. 2012). It refers to "a person, record, document, or event that gives information to a reporter in order to help write or decide to write a story." *Id.* (citation omitted); *see also The Wall Street Journal Glossary of Terms: Journalism* at http://info.wsj.com/college/glossary/journalism.pdf (defining "source" as "Person, record, document or event that provides the information for the story.") (visited August 7, 2015); Adam L. Penenberg, *NYU Journalism*

Only two cases cite the Shield Law. *U.S. v. Sterling*, 724 F.3d 482, 532 (4th Cir. 2013), cites it as part of the broader proposition that thirty-nine states plus the District of Columbia have statutory journalist's privileges. In *Davis v. Cox*, 180 Wn. App. 514, 547 n.11, 325 P.3d 255 (2014) (reversed, 183 Wn.2d 269, 351 P.3d 862 (2015)), this Court explained that the Shield Law permits disclosure of journalist work *product*—such as notes, photos, video, etc.—where there is a clear and convincing showing of need. *See* RCW 5.68.010(1)(b) (addressing journalist work product).

Although most states have some form of statutory journalist's privilege, only Maine and Connecticut appear to share Washington's provision governing nonmedia entities. *See* Me. Rev. Stat. tit. 16 §61(3); Conn. Gen. Stat §52-146t. The courts in those two states have not addressed these provisions, either.

Handbook for Students at

http://journalism.nyu.edu/assets/PageSpecificFiles/Ethics/NYU-

Journalism-Handbook-for-Students.pdf (defining "human source" as "a person who contributes information to a piece of reportage") (visited August 7, 2015).

Similarly, Black's Law Dictionary defines "confidential source" as "[s]omeone who provides information to a law-enforcement agency or to a journalist on the express or implied guarantee of anonymity." *Confidential Source*, Black's Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014).

Washington's pre-Shield Law cases enforce the common-law journalist's privilege where a party requested from a journalist or newspaper information provided directly from a source to that journalist or newspaper. See State v. Rinaldo, 102 Wn.2d 749, 689 P.2d 392 (1984) (defendant sought newspaper's materials from interviews between journalist and sources); Clampitt v. Thurston Cnty., 98 Wn.2d 641, 658 P.2d 641 (1983) (reversing order compelling reporter to identify the individual who told him about memorandum that formed the basis of reporter's article); Senear v. Daily Journal Am., 27 Wn. App. 454, 618 P.2d 536 (1980) (plaintiff served the newspaper with interrogatories asking for identification of union members who furnished certain information for a story).

Plus, at least two states whose statutes define "source" embrace this view. In Delaware, for example, source means:

[A] person from whom a reporter obtained information by means of written or spoken communication or the transfer of physical objects, but does not include a person from whom a reporter obtained information by means of personal observation unaccompanied by any other form of communication and does not include a person from whom another person who is not a reporter obtained information, even if the information was ultimately obtained by a reporter.

10 Del. Code Ann. Tit 10, § 4320(5) (emphasis added).

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